RECEIVED

03-20-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP2623-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOHN EDDIE FARMER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From the Denial of a Postconviction Motion for Resentencing and the Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable John Siefert, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MICHELLE L. VELASQUEZ Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1079355

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4300 E-mail: velasquezm@opd.wi.gov

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the circuit court adequately explain its reasoning when it imposed what it considered a "fairly severe" sentence?

The circuit court denied Mr. Farmer's motion for postconviction relief without holding a hearing. It issued a written decision, finding that its original sentencing comported with standards set forth in *McCleary* and *Gallion*; and therefore, it did not erroneously exercise its discretion. (14:1-4; App. 101-104).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Farmer does not request oral argument. This is a one-judge appeal under Wis. Stat. §§ 753.31(2) and (3); therefore, Wis. Stat. § 809.23(4)(b) prohibits a request for publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 15, 2013, the state filed a criminal complaint charging Mr. Farmer with one count of retail theft of less than 500 dollars, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.50(1m)(b) and (4)(a), and three counts of misdemeanor bail jumping, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1)(a). (2:2). Pursuant to a plea agreement, Mr. Farmer pled guilty to all four counts listed in the complaint. (6:1-2). After accepting his plea, the court sentenced Mr. Farmer as follows:

Count 1: nine months in the House of Correction.

Count 2: six months in the House of Correction, with day reporting center

Count 3: twenty-six days

Count 4: sentence withheld for two years of probation.

All of the sentences were consecutive to one another, and consecutive to a sentence that Mr. Farmer was serving in Waukesha County at the time he pled guilty in this case. (9:1; 10:1).

On August 11, 2014, Mr. Farmer filed a postconviction motion for resentencing, arguing that the court failed to provide sufficient reasoning for imposing the sentence. (13:1-16). On August 13, 2014, the circuit court issued a written decision and order denying Mr. Farmer's motion for resentencing. (14:1-4).

On November 3, 2014, Mr. Farmer filed a motion to reinstate his direct appeal deadlines under Wis. Stat. § 809.30 in order to appeal the circuit court's decision denying him postconviction relief. (15:1-3). This court granted that motion and this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Immediately following the plea, the court heard arguments from counsel and imposed a sentence. (21:6-18; App. 110-122). Pursuant to the plea negotiation, the state recommended time in the House of Correction, with the length up to the court. (21:8; App. 112). The state informed the court about Mr. Farmer's criminal record. His record included theft in 1990, theft and two counts of retail theft in 1995, two retail thefts in 1996, theft in bail jumping in 1997, and retail theft in 1998. (21:7, App. 111). Apart from the nine-month sentence he was serving at the time for retail theft in Waukesha, his most recent convictions were in 2001 and 2002, which were for retail theft and bail jumping. (21:7; App. 111). It noted that there were referrals for prosecution between 2002 and 2004 in Illinois, but could not present any specific facts or information about whether those referrals

lead to convictions. (21:7-8; App. 111-112). Upon the court's request, the state explained that Mr. Farmer had no convictions for violent felonies in either Milwaukee or Wisconsin. (21:9; App. 113). Finally, the state told the court that the items stolen by Mr. Farmer were personal hygiene products and that when the police confronted him, he was forthcoming and admitted to his actions. (21:8; App. 112).

The defense recommended a sentence concurrent with the nine-month sentence that Mr. Farmer was serving in Waukesha County. (21:9; App. 113). Mr. Farmer was seventy-two years old and had substance abuse problems as well as physical health problems. (21:9-10; App. 113-114). Mr. Farmer had some work experience, had his GED, and had a supportive son. (21:12-13; App. 116-117). During his opportunity to address the court, Mr. Farmer explained that he struggled with substance abuse and that he has both educational and employment goals. (21:14; App. 118).

The court's sentencing comments were as follows:

The Court: Well, Mr. Farmer, your shoplifting is totally out of control.

The Defendant: Yes, [y]our Honor.

The Court: And your record is very bad, and generally I don't like putting elderly people in the House of Correction; but in your case I think it's necessary. I will, however, try to fashion part of my sentence to get you treatment at the Day Reporting Center. Now, based on what I've heard, I think that the – on count one, the shoplifting, it will be the maximum nine months in the House of Correction, consecutive, no credit. On count two it will also be a consecutive sentence of six months in custody to be served at the Day Reporting Center where we ask that he be given alcohol assessment and treatment. If he had no felonies of violence, he should be eligible to do that after he's finished up all of his time.

Count three will be 26 days . . . That is a time-served disposition.

And in count four of bail jumping, it will be sentence withheld and placed on probation for a period of two years, probation to commence at the end of his sentences to Waukesha and Milwaukee.

(21:14-16; App. 118-120). The court stated that it was a "fairly severe sentence because it is mostly (sic) emphatically not – not concurrent." (21:116; App. 120). It then stated that it did however include a treatment component in both the Day Reporting Center and probation. (2/27/2014 Tr. at 16). The court clarified that count one was straight time and that it objected to electronic monitoring. (21:117; App. 121).

Mr. Farmer filed a postconviction motion seeking resentencing under *State v. Gallion*. (13:1-16). Specifically he argued that the court failed to provide adequate reasoning for imposing the sentence. The court did not engage in any meaningful discussion of how the facts of the case affected the court's view of the mandatory sentencing factors, nor did it identify any sentencing objectives. (13:1-16).

The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing. In its written decision, the court stated that it "considered the defendant's conduct in this case, his age, his education, his prior record, his struggles with addiction, his rehabilitative needs and the need for deterrence and community protection." (14:3; App. 103). The court "concede[d] that its sentencing decision could have been more expansive[,]" and that "[t]he court could have gone on for pages and pages of transcript but did not need to do so in this case to state the obvious: that the defendant was a chronic shoplifter who was unwilling or unable to curb his behavior. (14:3; App. 103). The court found that its sentence comported with the requirements set forth in *McCleary v. State* and *Gallion* because its "decision was specifically individualized to achieve the court's sentencing goals for this defendant." (14:4:App. 104).

ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Farmer Is Entitled to Resentencing Because the Circuit Court Failed to Adequately Explain Its Reasons For Imposing a "Fairly Severe Sentence."

In this case, the circuit court failed to provide an adequate explanation for its sentence. Instead of identifying sentencing objectives and providing details to explain its reasons for selecting the sentence that it did, the court merely uttered a vague statement about the sentence being "based on what [it] heard" before pronouncing it. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has concluded that "[s]uch an approach confuses the exercise of discretion with decision-making." *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 2, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. Therefore, the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion at sentencing and Mr. Farmer is entitled to a new hearing.

On appeal, this Court reviews sentencing decisions to determine whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion. *Id.* ¶ 17. This Court "will find an erroneous exercise of discretion if the record shows that the trial court failed to exercise its discretion, the facts fail to support the trial court's decision, or this court finds that the trial court applied the wrong legal standard." *State v. Black*, 2001 WI 31, ¶ 9, 242 Wis.2d 126, 624 N.W.2d 363.

In this case, the circuit court's erroneous exercise of discretion stems from its failure to exercise its discretion at sentencing, which requires the court to provide a "rational and explainable basis" for the particular sentence it imposed. *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 276, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971).

A. The circuit court is required to explain the reasons for its sentence, and the objectives of the sentence on the record.

Mr. Farmer, like all defendants, has "a constitutional right to have the relevant and material factors which influence sentencing explained on the record by the trial court." *State v. Hall*, 2002 WI App 108, ¶ 21, 255 Wis.2d 662, 648 N.W.2d 13. As part of that rational and explainable basis that must be put forth on the record, the court must consider the gravity of the offense, the rehabilitative needs of the defendant, and the need to protect the public. Wis. Stat. § 973.017(2); *State v. Taylor*, 2006 WI 22, ¶ 20, 289 Wis. 2d 34, 710 N.W.2d 466. ¹

"Discretion is not synonymous with decision-making. Rather, the term contemplates a process of reasoning." *McCleary*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 277. Circuit courts may not dispense with discretion by citing facts, "magic words," or limiting sentences to the statutory maximum. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 37. Instead, they "are required to specify the objective of the sentence on the record." *Id*. at ¶ 40; Wis. Stat. § 937.017(10m). Accordingly, a court must tailor the sentence to the individual case "by identifying the most relevant factors and explaining how the sentence imposed furthers the sentencing objectives" *State v. Harris*, 2010 WI 79, ¶ 29, 326 Wis. 2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409.

¹ A court may also consider several other factors such, "(1) Past record of criminal offenses;(2) history of undesirable behavioral pattern; (3) the defendant's personality, character and social traits; (4) result of presentence investigation; (5) vicious or aggravated nature of the crime; (6) degree of defendant's culpability; (7) defendant's demeanor at trial; (8) defendant's age, educational and employment record; (9) defendant's remorse and cooperativeness; (10) defendant's need for close rehabilitative control; (11) the rights of the public; and (12) the length of pretrial detention." *State v. Harris*, 2010 WI 79, ¶ 28, 326 Wis. 2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409.

Furthermore, in each case, the court should impose the "minimum amount of custody or confinement which is consistent with the protection of the public, the gravity of the offense and the rehabilitative needs of the defendant." *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 23, (quoting *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 276, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971).

B. The court failed to consider the mandatory sentencing factors, identify the sentencing objectives, and provide a rational and explainable basis for the sentence.

The issue at hand is the sentencing court's failure to identify the mandatory sentencing factors, identify a sentencing objective(s), and provide an on the record explanation of why and how it justified the sentence it ultimately imposed. Instead, it justified the sentence "based on what [it] heard." (21:15; App. 119). The court did not identify the mandatory sentencing factors, nor did it discuss the facts of the case and explain how those facts influenced its sentencing decision. The court did not discuss any facts about the offense itself. Likewise, the court did not mention protection of the public; therefore, nothing in the record demonstrates that it actually considered protection of the public, and what facts may have influenced the court in relation to it. The court did acknowledge Mr. Farmer's rehabilitative needs, insofar as it stated it would get him treatment at the Day Reporting Center. The court identified a need for treatment, but failed to explain how that need weighed against other sentencing goals.

In its few vague comments, the court noted that Mr. Farmer's record was "very bad," and that although it "[does not] like "putting elderly people in the House of Correction[,]"it was necessary to do so. (21:14; App. 118). Even if the court considered Mr. Farmer's age and criminal history, these are generally considered optional sentencing factors. *Harris*, 326 Wis. 2d 685, ¶ 28. However, considering these optional factors cannot relieve the court of its duty to consider the mandatory factors, and provide its reasoning for imposing the sentence on the record. Moreover, the simple statement about Mr. Farmer's "very bad" record does nothing to explain why the court believed its sentence was necessary. A court must do more; it must demonstrate a process of reasoning. *McCleary*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 277.

The court failed to identify any sentencing objective(s) as required. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 40; Wis. Stat. § 937.017(10m). A sentence "based on what [it] heard" makes it impossible to identify a sentencing objective(s) and for Mr. Farmer to know why the sentence imposed was necessary for the furtherance of the court's sentencing goals. Because there is no fact-factor analysis, there is no way of knowing from the record which of the many facts the parties discussed was important to the court, why the court imposed the sentence it did, or why it rejected Mr. Farmer's recommendation for concurrent time. An appellate court would learn nothing of the court's view of the factors, relevant facts, and how those furthered the sentencing objective because it failed to adequately explain its reasoning. *McCleary* 49 Wis. 2d 263, 280-281, (1971).

There is no evidence that the court considered the mandatory factors. It merely recited a couple of facts and identified a rehabilitative need. The court's broad statement about considering everything it had heard does not show an exercise of discretion. The exercise of discretion demands that the court provide an explanation of the court's reasoning and how the sentence furthers the sentencing objectives. *Harris*, 326 Wis. 2d 685, ¶ 29.

C. The court pronounced its reasoning for imposing the sentence for the first time in its decision on the postconviction motion.

When a defendant brings a postconviction motion challenging a court's sentence, the court has an opportunity to clarify its sentencing decision and rationale. See State v. *Fuerst*, 181 Wis. 2d 903, 915, 512 N.W.2d 243 (Ct. App. 1994) (emphasis added); *State v. Stenzel*, 2004 WI App 181, ¶ 9, 276 Wis. 2d 224, 688 N.W.2d 20. Here, however, because the court provided minimal reasoning and explanation at the original sentencing, it was not merely clarifying its decision, but providing its rationale for the first time.

In its written decision, the court stated that it "considered the conduct, his age, his education, his prior record, his struggles with addiction, his rehabilitative needs and the need for deterrence and community protection." (14:3; App. 103). It went on to explain that despite the relatively minor offense, a sentence to the House of Correction was necessary to punish and deter Mr. Farmer. (14:3; App. 103). The court explained that it weighed Mr. Farmer's bad record and risk to re-offend against the need for treatment. (14:3; App. 103). Finally, the court "concluded then, as it does now, that the sentence imposed is necessary to achieve the sentencing goals of punishment, deterrence, rehabilitation, and community protection." (14:3; App. 103).

The postconviction decision is the first time the court provided any explanation as to how it weighed the facts of the case, the sentencing factors, or identified goals. Contrary to its statement, the court did not "conclude then" that the sentence imposed furthered its goals to punish, deter, rehabilitate and protect the community. At the time of sentencing, the court did not identify any goals, other than that it would provide treatment in the form of the Day Reporting Center; likewise, and did not address any facts, other than Mr. Farmer's record. These after-the-fact remarks should not cure a totally deficient sentencing. Cf. *State v. Travis*, 2013 WI 38, ¶ 48, 347 Wis. 2d 142, 832 N.W.2d 491 (sentencing court's "after-the-fact assertion of non-reliance on allegedly inaccurate information is not dispositive of the issue of actual reliance").

In its written decision denying postconviction relief, the court "concede[d] that its sentencing decision could have been more expansive." (14:3; App. 103). However, it stated that it

> did not need to do so in this case to state the obvious: that the defendant was a chronic shoplifter who was unwilling or unable to curb his behavior[,] [and that] [s]ome House of Correction time was clearly necessary to punish and deter the defendant and to protect the community (particularly the business community.)

(14:3; App. 103). However, explaining what it thought was "obvious" is precisely what the court needed to do. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶¶ 41-43. Permitting the court to provide no explanation at the time of sentencing, and then on postconviction, provide all of its rationale and call it a "clarification" renders the principles of *Gallion* and *McCleary* meaningless. Furthermore, permitting an exercise of discretion on postconviction to substitute for a proper exercise of discretion at the time of sentencing denies Mr. Farmer his right to be present at sentencing. *State v. Borrell*, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 772, 482 N.W.2d 883.

Mr. Farmer was entitled to have the trial court explain and discuss all of the relevant and material factors the court considered *at the time of sentencing*; thereby assuring him that the result was that of a deliberate process. *State v. Hall*, 255 Wis. 2d 662, ¶ 21; *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 8; *McCleary*, 49 Wis. 2d at 278. Because the circuit court failed to do that, Mr. Farmer is entitled to resentencing.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Farmer respectfully requests that for the reasons stated above that the court reverse the decision of the circuit court denying him postconviction relief, vacate the judgment of conviction and order a re-sentencing hearing.