# **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

05-07-2015

# COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**DISTRICT I** 

Appeal Case No. 2014AP002623-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

JOHN EDDIE FARMER, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF A
POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR RESENTENCING
AND THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN
THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,
THE HONORABLE JOHN SIEFERT, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

John T. Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Alyssa M. Schaller Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1097936 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

ISSUE PRESENTED
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STANDARD OF REVIEW2
STATEMENT OF THE CASE2
ARGUMENT4
I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT SENTENCED MR. FARMER
A. The trial court adequately explained its reasoning when it imposed Mr. Farmer's sentence4
B. Even if the explanation of the sentence on the record is deemed inadequate, the sentence imposed was not an abuse of discretion because the totality of the record supports the trial court's decision
CONCLUSION9

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# **CASES CITED**

Page
McCleary v.State, 49 Wis.2d 263, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971)2, 5, 6, 8
State v. Gallion, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W. 2d 197 (2004)4, 5, 6, 8
<u>State v. Hall,</u> 255 Wis.2d 662, 648 N.W.2d 41 (2002)6
<u>State v. Hutnik,</u> 39 Wis.2d 754, 159 N.W.2d 733 (1968)5
State v. Santana, 220 Wis.2d 674, 584 N.W.2d 151 (Ct. App. 1998)8
WISCONSIN STATUTES CITED
§943.50(1m)(b)2
§946.49(1)(a)2

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

## DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2014AP002623-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

JOHN EDDIE FARMER, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF A
POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR RESENTENCING AND
THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE
MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,
THE HONORABLE JOHN SIEFERT, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the trial court's sentence of Mr. Farmer constitute an abuse of discretion?

Answer: The trial court, by denying Mr. Farmer's Postconviction Motion for Re-Sentencing, implicitly answered in the negative.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This is a misdemeanor case to be decided by a single judge, which is not eligible for publication. Neither is oral argument necessary to resolve the issues herein.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court's review to determine whether a trial court has properly sentenced a defendant is limited to determining if the trial court's discretion was erroneously exercised. McCleary v.State, 49 Wis.2d 263, 278, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). There is an erroneous exercise of discretion when that "discretion is based on irrelevant or improper factors." Id. Furthermore, the reviewing court is to "follow[] a consistent and strong policy against interference with the discretion of the trial court in passing sentence." Id. at 281.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 14, 2013, the Milwaukee County District Attorney's Office filed a complaint against the petitioner, Mr. John Eddie Farmer, Sr. alleging four criminal counts: one count of misdemeanor retail theft and three counts of misdemeanor bail jumping. (R2). At the time the complaint was filed, Mr. Farmer had three additional open cases, 13CM5099, 13CM4594 and 13CM4573. (R2:2). Case 13CM5099 included one count of misdemeanor retail theft and one count of misdemeanor bail jumping in violation of Wisconsin Statutes §943.50(1m)(b) and §946.49(1)(a), and cases 13CM4594 and 13CM4573 each charged one count of misdemeanor retail theft in violation of Wisconsin statute §943.50(1m)(b). Id.

On February 27, 2014, at the plea and sentencing hearing, Mr. Farmer pled guilty to one count of misdemeanor retail theft, contrary to Wisconsin statute §943.50(1m)(b) and three counts of misdemeanor bail jumping, contrary to Wisconsin statute §946.49(1)(a) in case 13CM5299. (R9:1, R10:1). The three remaining cases were dismissed. (R21:3).

During the sentencing argument, Assistant District Attorney Franco Mineo spoke about Mr. Farmer's criminal history which dated back to 1990 and included offenses in Illinois. (R21:7). ADA Mineo next addressed the three open retail theft municipal warrants from the city of Milwaukee, one open municipal trespass warrant also from the city of Milwaukee and one open municipal warrant from the city of Greenfield. Id. Finally, ADA Mineo relayed the gravity of the four cases before the trial court, in which Mr. Farmer entered four different stores, concealed items in his backpack, left the stores, and then admitted the offenses once confronted by police. (R21:8).

At sentencing, the trial court imposed the following sentence:

Count 1: Nine months in the House of Correction

Count 2: Six months in the House of Correction, with Day Reporting Center

Count 3: Twenty-six days House of Correction, time served

Count 4: Sentence withheld for two years of probation

(R21:15)

All of the sentences were consecutive to one another and also consecutive to the sentence that Mr. Farmer was serving in Waukesha County at the time he pled guilty to the above four counts. <u>Id</u>.

The trial court did mention the three primary sentencing factors: gravity of the offense, character of Mr. Farmer, and need to protect the public. (R21:18). The trial court started with the gravity of the offense:

**THE COURT**: Well, Mr. Farmer, your shoplifting is totally out of control.

(R21:14)

The trial court also considered Mr. Farmer's character:

**THE COURT**: And your record is very bad.

Id.

Finally, the trial court considered the need to protect the public:

**THE COURT**: And generally I don't like putting elderly people in the House of Correction; but in your case I think it is necessary.

Id.

After imposing the sentence, the trial court further discussed it's reasoning for the sentence:

**THE COURT:** Now, that's a fairly severe sentence because it is mostly emphatically not – not concurrent. However, it does embody treatment both in the – in the probationary count and treatment in the form of the Day Reporting count.

(R21:16)

On August 13, 2014, the trial court entered a written Decision and Order Denying Motion for Resentencing. (R14). The trial court discussed in depth an additional number of reasons as to why it imposed the sentence given to Mr. Farmer. (R14). The trial court indicated that it perceived no abuse of sentencing discretion and declined to resentence Mr. Farmer. (R14:4).

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT SENTENCED MR. FARMER.
  - A. The trial court adequately explained its reasoning when it imposed Mr. Farmer's sentence.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court instructed that trial courts are to provide evidence of "exercise of discretion" during a sentencing hearing. <u>State v. Gallion</u>, 270 Wis. 2d 535,

549, 678 N.W. 2d 197, 203 (2004). Discretion is a process of reasoning, not merely decision-making. McCleary, 49 Wis.2d at 277.

This process must depend on facts that are of record or that are reasonably derived by inference from the record and a conclusion based on a logical rationale founded upon proper legal standards.

Id.

There should be evidence on the record that reflects the basis for the discretion and that discretion was truly exercised. <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>State v. Hutnik</u>, 39 Wis.2d 754, 764, 159 N.W.2d 733, 738 (1968)).

Furthermore, the trial court must explain the reasons for the imposition of the particular sentence handed down. <u>Gallion</u>, 270 Wis.2d at 556-57. This includes a discussion, during the sentencing phase of the proceedings, of the gravity of the offense, the character of the defendant, and the need to protect the public. <u>Id</u>. Also, there is the important note that simply using the "magic words" 'seriousness [gravity] of the offense,' 'character of the offender' and 'need to protect the public' does not automatically render a sentence proper. <u>Id</u>. at 562, <u>McCleary</u>, 49 Wis.2d at 276.

In Mr. Farmer's case, the trial court did more than just state "magic words;" it actually gave explanations on the record before and after it imposed sentence. (R21:14 & 16). Instead of merely saying the words signifying that the trial court was talking about the Mr. Farmer's character, the trial court stated that Mr. Farmer's record was very bad finding that his criminal history was extensive. (R21:14). The trial court cautioned that Mr. Farmer's shoplifting was "totally out of control," which went to the gravity of the offense. Id. As to the need to protect the public, again the trial court explained that it was necessary to put Mr. Farmer in jail even though the trial court did not like doing that with elderly people. Id. Moreover, the trial court reasoned that its sentence tried to help Mr. Farmer get the treatment he requested through the Day Reporting Center and probation. (R21:16).

Here, the trial court took the facts that were in the record at the time of sentencing, and adequately relayed its reasons for sentencing to Mr. Farmer. (R21:14-16). There is no predetermined amount of time for the explanation of sentence that the court must follow, instead the necessary explanation varies from case to case. Gallion, 270 Wis.2d at 556. For Mr. Farmer, the trial court gave a sufficient explanation of sentence for his particular case by addressing Mr. Farmer's criminal history, the seriousness of the offenses, and the need to put him in jail. (R21:14-16). The factors a trial court must consider when sentencing were all taken into account and explained to Mr. Farmer at his sentencing. Id. Therefore, the trial court adequately exercised its discretion as well as explained its reasoning for the sentence of Mr. Farmer.

B. Even if the explanation of the sentence on the record is deemed inadequate, the sentence imposed was not an abuse of discretion because the totality of the record supports the trial court's decision.

When a trial court fails "to exercise discretion (discretion that is apparent from the record) when discretion is required, [this] constitutes an abuse of discretion." McCleary, 49 Wis.2d at 282. However, McCleary goes on to state that the court,

...will not, however, set aside a sentence for that reason; rather, we are obliged to search the record to determine whether in the exercise of proper discretion the sentence imposed can be sustained.

<u>Id.</u>, <u>State v. Hall</u>, 255 Wis.2d 662, 670, 648 N.W.2d 41,44 (2002).

It is the duty of the court to affirm the sentence on appeal if the facts of record can be sustained as an appropriate use of discretion. McCleary, 49 Wis.2d at 282. "In cases where the trial judge has failed to set forth his reasons, we examine the record ab initio to resolve the post-verdict damage questions." Id. at 277. The court "will not find an abuse of discretion if there exists a reasonable basis for the trial court's determination." Id.

Reviewing all of the information in the record at the time of sentencing, there was no abuse of discretion by the trial court in its ruling. From the beginning, the trial court had the criminal complaint which explained the nature of the current charges, as well as the fact that Mr. Farmer had three additional open misdemeanor retail theft cases at the time he was charged with the new one. (R2). The trial court was aware of the fact that at the age of 72, Mr. Farmer continued to commit retail thefts even though he had multiple open cases and was instructed as part of his bail not to commit any new offenses. Id.

Further, the trial court explored Mr. Farmer's lengthy criminal history during the sentencing. (R21:7). This is a criminal history that spanned over three decades with numerous retail theft and bail jumping convictions. <u>Id</u>. The most recent case ADA Mineo referenced was another misdemeanor retail theft case in Waukesha County in which Mr. Farmer was sentenced three days prior to his sentencing in Milwaukee County to nine months straight time. <u>Id</u>. It was mentioned that during the years of 2002-2014, Mr. Farmer did not have any criminal convictions in Wisconsin. <u>Id</u>. However, the State pointed out that during that time, Mr. Farmer may have been in custody or dealing with issues in the state of Illinois. <u>Id</u>. The trial court was aware of Mr. Farmer's extensive criminal history for similar behavior as the cases at hand when he sentenced Mr. Farmer. <u>Id</u>.

The trial court was aware of the nature of the offenses by Mr. Farmer from the complaints and statements from the State. (R2, R21:8). ADA Mineo explained how all four of the cases were similarly committed. (R21:8). Mr. Farmer went into four different stores, put merchandise into his backpack or coat, and left the store without paying. (R21:8). The total amount of items taken in the case Mr. Farmer was sentenced on was \$195.72. (R2). Additionally, the trial court was aware that the total for the other retail thefts was about \$150 each. (R21:8). These were added facts of the offense that the trial court had knowledge of during Mr. Farmer's sentencing.

The trial court was also aware of several mitigating factors regarding Mr. Farmer's character. (R21:9). Defense counsel discussed Mr. Farmer's age, his addiction issues, that

he tried to get treatment, his health issues, his supportive family, the fact that Mr. Farmer has lived in Milwaukee his whole life and that he had schooling beyond his GED. (R21:9-12). The trial court incorporated these points during Mr. Farmer's sentencing and mentioned that the sentence embodied treatment in both the probationary count and the Day Reporting Center giving Mr. Farmer an opportunity to get the help he wanted. (R21:16).

In addition, when the Court of Appeals reviews a sentence, it is able to look at the entire record, including any postconviction proceedings. State v. Santana, 220 Wis.2d 674, 683, 584 N.W.2d 151 (Ct. App. 1998) ("The transcripts of the sentencing hearing as well as several postconviction hearings make an extensive record of the trial court's comments at sentencing and its explanation for what was considered.") Part of the postconviction proceedings are the written motions like those that were filed in Mr. Farmer's case. (R:13,14). The trial court put numerous justifications for Mr. Farmer's sentence in the written postconviction motion, many of which were mentioned on the record during sentencing. (R14). Those factors included Mr. Farmer's age, education, prior criminal record, struggles with addiction, rehabilitative needs, need for deterrence and community protection. (R14:3). These are exactly the types of factors a trial court is supposed to consider and convey when sentencing someone according to Gallion, 270 Wis.2d at 556-57.

All of the information discussed above was known to the trial court at the time of Mr. Farmer's sentencing. Between the four open cases, extensive criminal history including possible out of state offenses, and the nature of the four cases, the trial court was well within reason to sentence Mr. Farmer in the manner that it did. Both Gallion and McCleary recognize the wide discretion afforded to the trial court at sentencing. 270 Wis. 2d at 549, 49 Wis.2d at 278. When searching the entire record, the sentence of Mr. Farmer was entirely rational. Because there existed countless reasons why the trial court imposed a reasonable sentence on Mr. Farmer, the State believes there was no abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court.

## **CONCLUSION**

The records from the sentencing hearing and subsequent filings do not show an abuse of discretion by the trial court, but instead support that Mr. Farmer was properly sentenced. The State therefore respectfully requests that the petitioner's motion for resentencing be denied.